RECEIVED

Jun 12 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit

The Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable Alex Kinlaw, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
The Honorable William C. McMaster, III

Appellate Case No. 2026-000524

Timothy Jones as the Personal Representative for Dewitt Jones.....Appellant,

v.

Innovative Scientific Solutions, LLC, J. Ryan Flanagan, Jay A.
Flanagan, Jr., and Marion L. Snyder..... Respondents.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr., Esq. (S.C. #1376)
John W. Fletcher, Esq. (S.C. #69550)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

SUGGESTED ANSWER TO ALL QUESTIONS: *Yes.*

1. Did the trial judge err in granting Defendants summary judgment where Plaintiff presented evidence that he did not consent to Mr. Swanson agreeing to the appraisal prepared by Mr. Hartel/HDH?
2. Did the trial judge err in granting Defendants summary judgment where the appraisal prepared by Mr. Hartel/HDH—and allegedly agreed to by Mr. Swanson—did not determine the fair market value of Mr. Jones's Membership Units in ISS at the time of his death?
3. Did the trial judge err in granting Defendants summary judgment where Plaintiff needed to conduct additional discovery to address the motion for summary judgment?
4. Did the trial court err in denying Plaintiff's Motion to Compel (and granting Defendants' Motion for Protective Order) with regard to the discovery of information about ISS's actual finances and performance after the death of Mr. Jones?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Timothy Jones, as the Personal Representative for Dewitt Jones ("Plaintiff"), commenced this action in the Court of Common Pleas of Greenville County, South Carolina, on January 3, 2023. (*See generally* Pl.'s Jan. 3, 2023 Compl.). The Complaint named as Defendants: (a) Innovative Scientific Solutions, LLC ("ISS"); (b) J. Ryan Flanagan; (c) Jay A. Flanagan, Jr.; (d) Marion L. Snyder. As discussed below, Plaintiff files this appeal because the trial court erred in: (a) granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment; and (b) denying Plaintiff's motion to compel and granting Defendants' motion for protective order.

A. Statement of the Case as to Summary Judgment Order

1. Procedural History

Plaintiff alleges that on or about January 1, 2021, Dewitt Jones ("Mr. Jones") entered into an Amended and Restated Operating Agreement ("Operating Agreement") with ISS and the individual Defendants, in which he received 253.37 Membership Units ("Membership Units") in ISS, representing an approximate 19.05% ownership interest. (*See* Pl.'s Compl. ¶ 10). On or about June 16, 2021, Mr. Jones passed away, and his estate is in probate in Greenville County, South Carolina. (*See* Pl.'s Compl. ¶ 12). Plaintiff alleged in his Complaint that, following his death, Section 11.4 of the Operating Agreement required that ISS purchase Mr. Jones's Membership Units. (*See* Pl.'s Compl. ¶ 13). Section 11.4 required that ISS purchase Mr. Jones's Membership units for their fair market value. (*See* Pl.'s Compl. ¶ 14). Plaintiff alleged that, since Mr. Jones's death, ISS has refused to grant his estate access to the company's financials; this has prevented Plaintiff from accurately determining the fair market value of Mr. Jones's Membership Units. (*See* Pl.'s Compl. ¶ 15). Plaintiff alleged that, as a result, the fair market value of Mr. Jones estate cannot be determined through reasonable diligence. (*See* Pl.'s Compl. ¶ 16).

Plaintiff commenced this matter as an action in equity to require ISS to render a full accounting and for the judicial dissolution of ISS. (*See* Pl.'s Compl. ¶ 17). He asserted the following causes of action against Defendants:

- Count I (Accounting): This cause of action alleges that Mr. Jones had repeatedly asked to inspect and copy records of ISS, but was denied an opportunity to do so. (*See* Pl.'s Compl. ¶ 20).
- Count II (Judicial Dissolution of ISS): This cause of action asserts that ISS "has failed to purchase Mr. Jones distributional interest after giving effect to the provisions of the Operating Agreement" and that the Court should "order ISS to purchase Mr. Jones membership interest or in the alternative dissolve ISS." (*See* Pl.'s Compl. ¶¶ 26, 29).

On September 15, 2023, Defendants filed their Answer and Counterclaims. (*See generally* Sept. 15, 2023 Ans. and Counterclaims to Pl.'s Compl.). Defendants' counterclaims sought the following relief:

- a. The buyout of Plaintiff's shares was fully compliant with the terms of the Operating Agreement;
- b. Plaintiff had, and has, no standing to dispute the buyout amount approved by his appraiser, which was binding on him pursuant to the Operating Agreement;
- c. Plaintiff is not entitled to any compensation for his interest in Innovative Scientific Solutions, LLC, beyond the purchase price agreed to by his appraiser and paid according to the terms of the Operating Agreement;
- d. Defendants properly executed the buyout of Plaintiff's interest in Innovative Scientific Solutions, LLC, pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement and the appraisers' agreed-upon buyout price;
- e. Plaintiff ceased to be a member of Innovative Scientific Solutions, LLC, as of the execution of the buyout, which was prior to the filing of this lawsuit; and
- f. Plaintiff may not exercise the legal rights and privileges of a member of Innovative Scientific Solutions, LLC.

(*See id.* ¶ 17).

On July 16, 2025, Defendants filed their Motion for Summary Judgment, which is at issue in this appeal. (*See generally* July 16, 2025 Defs.' Mot. for Summ. J.). Defendants asserted that:

In sum, (1) the Plaintiff had, and has, no standing to dispute the buyout amount approved by his appraiser because it was binding upon him pursuant to the Operating Agreement, (2) the Plaintiff is not entitled to any compensation for his interest in ISS beyond the purchase price agreed by his appraiser and paid according to the terms of the Operating Agreement, (3) there is no genuine issue of material fact that Defendants properly executed the buyout of Plaintiff's interest in ISS pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement and the appraisers' agreed-upon

buyout price, (4) Plaintiff ceased to be a member of ISS as of the execution of the buyout, and (5) Plaintiff's claims fail.

(*See id.*, at 4). The court continued that "[t]here is no genuine issue of material fact that the Defendants complied with the plain and clear provisions of the Operating Agreement." (*See id.*). Defendants asked the trial court to enter "an order granting them summary judgment and dismissing the claims against them with prejudice." (*See id.*).

The parties briefed the motion for summary judgment, and the trial court conducted arguments on same. On January 21, 2026, the Honorable Charles B. Simmons entered an Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment ("MSJ Order"). (*See* Jan. 21, 2026 Order). The MSJ Order noted that the parties agreed that the Operating Agreement governed the redemption of Mr. Jones's ISS Membership Units. (*See id.*, at 3). It stated that the "Operating Agreement outlines a specific process for determining the fair market value of the Membership Units and for how that value is to be paid." (*See id.*). The trial court held that:

The evidence shows that the Estate appointed Mark Swanson of Moore Beauston & Woodham. ISS appointed Alex Hartel, then of HDH Advisors as its appraiser. Both Mark Swanson and Alex Hartel testified in their depositions that they agreed upon a valuation of the Membership Units. There is no genuine issue of material fact that the two appraisers agreed upon a value. Once the appraiser for the Estate and the appraiser for ISS agreed on a valuation, that valuation controls per the plain language of the Operating Agreement.

(*See id.*, at 4-5). The Court rejected Plaintiffs' argument that he never accepted Mr. Hartel's appraisal (or authorized Mr. Swanson to accept it):

The Estate does not point to any language in the Operating Agreement requiring the Estate's agreement to a valuation amount before it becomes binding on the Estate. Further, the appraisal process outlined in the Operating Agreement is expressly meant to apply where the parties are unable to agree to a fair market valuation of the Company, thereby resolving an impasse created by the parties' differing opinions on value. Allowing a member to dispute their appraiser's valuation of the Company, or permitting a member to dictate an acceptable valuation, would defeat the purpose of the Operating Agreement. It would *ispo* (sic) *facto* lead right back to where the parties started – at an impasse over the parties' opinions of value.

(*See id.*, at 5). The Court concluded that no genuine issues of material fact existed for trial "[b]ecause the provisions of the Operating Agreement are plain, clear, and unambiguous, and the

Defendants followed the provisions of the Operating Agreement." (*See id.*, at 7).

On January 30, 2026, Plaintiff filed a timely Motion to Reconsider and Request for Clarification ("Motion for Reconsideration"). (*See generally* Jan. 30, 2026 Mot. Reconsider and Req. for Clarif.). In his Motion for Reconsideration, Plaintiff first argued that a genuine issue of material fact existed as to "whether Mark Swanson maintained the authority to bind Plaintiff to the valuation provided by Defendants' appointed appraiser, Alex Hartel, despite Plaintiff's revocation of said authority." (*See id.*, at 2). Plaintiff asserted that his revocation of Mr. Swanson's authority, at the very least, created an issue of fact "as to whether the Operating Agreement granted Mark Swanson irrevocable authority to bind Plaintiff contractually, even when doing so would require him to ignore the unambiguous directives of Plaintiff, acting as his principal." (*See id.*, at 3).

Additionally, Plaintiff argued in his Motion for Reconsideration that the grant of summary judgment denied "Plaintiff the benefit that Dewitt Jones bargained for when he agreed to the terms of the Operating Agreement." (*See id.*, at 5). Plaintiff contended that Mr. Jones had retained the right in the Operating Agreement "to appoint an appraiser that would carefully work to develop an evaluation of his Membership Units in ISS. What his estate has received is far afield from the benefit that he bargained for." (*See id.*). Finally, Plaintiff Motion for Reconsideration requested clarification as to whether the MSJ Order "set forth the final purchase price for Defendants to buy back Plaintiff's Membership Units in ISS." (*See id.*, at 6).

On February 4, 2026, Judge Simmons entered a Form 4 Order denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration, stating:

The matter is before the Court pursuant to Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider filed January 30, 2026. From the Court's review of the record, there appears to be no issues raised not previously ruled upon. As such, the Motion is denied. Notwithstanding the above, if there are any issues as to the exact amount due Plaintiff under the Operating Agreement and the Order filed January 21, 2026, either party may petition the Court for a ruling on the same.

(*See* Feb. 4, 2026, Form 4 Order).

Plaintiff filed a timely notice of appeal from the trial court's granting of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and denial of Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration. (*See generally* Notice

of Appeal).

2. Relevant Factual Background Relating to Motion for Summary Judgment

Accepting as true all of Plaintiff's evidence and resolving all inferences in Plaintiff's favor, the following facts are relevant to the instant appeal.

When Mr. Jones passed away, he left behind 253.37 Membership Units in ISS, which is approximately a 19.05% ownership interest in ISS. (*See* Sept. 15, 2025 Sworn Aff. of Timothy Jones, at 1).

The ISS Operating Agreement, filed with the trial court under seal, addressed what would happen to Membership Units in the event of the death of a member:

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, upon the death of a Member, the Company shall purchase, and the estate of the decedent, or his successor in interest by operation of law, shall sell all of the decedent's Membership Units in the Company now owned or hereafter acquired. The purchase price of such Membership Units shall be computed in accordance with the provisions of SECTION 11.4 and paid in accordance with the provisions of SECTION 11.5.

(*See* Op. Agr't ¶ 11.2). Under Section 11.4 of the Operating Agreement, "[t]he purchase price of each Membership Unit shall be the Fair Market Value (as defined below) of the entire Company divided by the total number of Membership Units." (*See id.* ¶ 11.4).

If the deceased member's estate and ISS cannot agree on a price within 21 days after an offer is made, ISS and member's estate "shall within thirty (30) days . . . each appoint one (1) appraiser . . . and notify the other party of the name of such appraiser appointed by them." (*See id.*). After the parties select their appraisers, the Operating Agreement provides for the following procedure:

If the two (2) appraisers cannot agree on the Fair Market Value of the Company within thirty (30) days after the last of them is appointed, then within seven (7) days following such thirty (30) day period, the Offering Member and the Company shall appoint a third qualified appraiser. If the Offering Member and the Company cannot agree upon a third appraiser within such seven (7) day period, then the other two (2) appraisers shall appoint a third qualified appraiser. The third appraiser shall determine the Fair Market Value of the Company within thirty (30) days after his appointment. The Fair Market Value shall be the average of the two (2) appraisals which are closest to each other.

(*See id.*).

This appeal relates to the parties' efforts to value Mr. Jones's Membership Units in ISS under Section 11.4 of the Operating Agreement. Plaintiff initially sought to use Meilinger Consulting, PC as his selected appraiser to value Mr. Jones's ownership units in ISS. (*See* Sept. 15, 2025 Mem. Supp. Defs.' Mot. Summ. J. Ex. B, at 37:13-15; Sept. 17, 2025 Hrg. Transcr., at 3:4-13). However, because Meilinger did not produce a report, Plaintiff's appraiser was Mark Swanson ("Mr. Swanson"). (*See id.*). Plaintiff's retainer agreement with Mr. Swanson provided that "[w]e will work with you and the finance team at Innovative Scientific Solutions, LLC to derive a reasonable fair market value for the estates membership interest in the company." (*See* Defs.' Dec. 12, 2025 Suppl. Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. Ex. B). Mr. Swanson testified that, because Plaintiff had retained him, Plaintiff could "challenge how you arrive at your number." (*See* Defs.' Dec. 12, 2025 Suppl. Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. Ex. A, at 33:18-34:11). ISS appointed Alex Hartel ("Mr. Hartel"), then of HDH Advisors, as its appraiser. (*See* Sept. 15, 2025 Defs.' Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. Ex. A, at 46:20-22).

Plaintiff had previously retained Mr. Swanson to appraise Mr. Jones's Membership Units and the value of all Membership Units for estate administration purposes. Specifically, Mr. Swanson appraised the fair market value of Mr. Jones's interest in ISS as of the date of his death (June 11, 2021). Mr. Swanson had concluded, based on the information available at the time of Mr. Jones's death, that the value of all combined Membership Units in ISS was "much" higher than the later valuation that the trial court endorsed. (*See* Dec. 12, 2025 Defs.' Suppl. Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J. Ex. A, at 9:8-12).

In a June 28, 2022, Summary Valuation Report as of June 11, 2021 ("HDH Report"), HDH Advisors opined that the fair market value of 100% of the stock of ISS on June 11, 2021 was \$8,934,000.00:

Appraisal Approach	Exhibit Reference	Indicated Enterprise Value	Weighting ^[1]	Concluded Value
Income Approach (Discounted Cash Flow Method)	Exhibit 2	\$ 3,093,000	100.0%	
Market Approach (Guideline Transaction Method)	Exhibit 4	N/A	0.0%	
Market Approach (Guideline Public Company Method)	Exhibit 7	N/A	0.0%	
Asset Approach (Adjusted Net Asset Method)	N/A	N/A	0.0%	
Concluded Business Enterprise Value, rounded				\$ 3,093,000
Less: Interest-Bearing Debt			[2]	(99,795)
Plus: Cash & Cash Equivalents			[2]	5,911,592
Plus: Cash-Free Net Working Capital Surplus			[3]	29,479
Fair Market Value of One Hundred Percent (100%) Membership Interest in Innovative Scientific, LLC, rounded				\$ 8,934,000

(See Oct. 24, 2024 Pl.'s Mem. Supp. Mot Ex. A at Ex. 1 to HDH Report). The HDH Report calculated the indicated business enterprise value using projections of ISS's future revenue:

	Actual ^[1]		Projected ^[1]						Terminal Year
	FYE 31-Dec-20	LTM 31-May-21	7ME 31-Dec-21	FYE 31-Dec-22	FYE 31-Dec-23	FYE 31-Dec-24	FYE 31-Dec-25		
Revenue	\$ 19,445,646	\$ 44,001,830	\$ 14,860,533	\$ 19,136,767	\$ 8,372,766	\$ 9,210,043	\$ 9,670,545	\$ 9,960,661	
Annual Growth %	323.2%	n/a	n/a	-54.0%	-56.2%	10.0%	5.0%	3.0%	
EBITDA	4,539,553	17,484,519	4,206,788	1,438,525	(148,811)	346,308	618,623	637,182	
EBITDA Margin	23.3%	39.7%	28.3%	7.5%	-1.8%	3.8%	6.4%	6.4%	
Depreciation	585,552	-	89,162	295,403	410,675	444,010	399,881	500,000	
Amortization	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
EBIT	3,954,001	17,484,519	4,117,625	1,143,123	(559,487)	(97,702)	218,742	137,182	
EBIT Margin	20.3%	39.7%	27.7%	6.0%	-8.7%	-1.1%	2.3%	1.4%	
Income Taxes @ 25.0%			1,027,348	285,209	-	-	10,915	34,227	
Net Operating Profit After Tax			3,090,278	857,914	(559,487)	(97,702)	207,827	102,955	
<u>Cash Flow Adjustments:</u>									
Plus: Depreciation & Amortization			89,162	295,403	410,675	444,010	399,881	500,000	
Less: Capital Expenditures			(292,000)	(500,000)	(750,000)	(750,000)	(500,000)	(500,000)	
Less: Change in CFNWC			11,760	128,473	60,706	(4,722)	(2,597)	(1,636)	
Invested Capital Net Cash Flow			\$ 2,899,200	\$ 781,789	\$ (838,105)	\$ (408,414)	\$ 105,111	\$ 101,319	
[2] Terminal Value								\$ 827,092	
Partial Period Adjustment			1.000						
[3] Present Value Period			0.278	1.056	2.056	3.056	4.056	4.056	
Present Value Factor			0.961	0.861	0.747	0.648	0.562	0.562	
Present Value of Net Cash Flow			\$ 2,787,000	\$ 672,956	\$ (625,971)	\$ (264,677)	\$ 59,105	\$ 465,081	
Present Value of Net Cash Flows			\$ 2,628,412						
Plus: PV of Terminal Value			465,081						
Indicated Business Enterprise Value (rounded)			\$ 3,093,000						

(See *id.*, at Ex. 2 to HDH Report).

On August 3, 2022, attorney Doug O'Neal emailed the HDH Report to Alex Kendall

(Plaintiff's attorney), Plaintiff, Defendant Mr. Flanagan, and Chris Rawlings, noting that: "The next step (according to the Operating Agreement) is for Mark Swanson and Alex Hartel to confer over their differences and come up with a number that they can agree upon. If they cannot agree, then the two of them will appoint a third appraiser to determine the value." (See Sept. 17, 2025 Letter filing Exhibits, Ex. A thereto). Later that day, Plaintiff emailed Mark Swanson (and others) noting that the HDH Report valued *the entire company* for only slightly more than what Mr. Swanson had appraised Mr. Jones's Membership Units as of the date of his death:

Attached is the HDH ISS's valuation report. Per your appraisal, Dewitt's 19.05% interest was appraised at \$8,732,300, as of 6-11-2021. The attached appraisal from Alex Hartel valued the entire company at \$8,934,000, as of June 11, 2021. If you could take a look at his valuation report and schedule a time to discuss, I would appreciate it.

(See Sept. 17, 2025 Letter filing Exhibits, Ex. A thereto).

On August 10, 2022, Douglas O'Neal emailed that he was "connecting" Alex Hartel and Mark Swanson:

I wanted to put the two of you together, so that you can work to resolve the differences in your valuations[,] copies of which are attached. Please let me know If you would like to set up a call with each other, or Alex Kendall and me, to move things forward. If the two of you cannot agree on the value of ISS within the next 30, then Tim Jones (on behalf of Dewitt's estate) and Ryan Flanagan (on behalf of ISS) must appoint a 3d appraiser. If a third appraiser is appointed, the purchase price for this transaction will be the average of the two appraisals that are closest to each other.

I have attached the Operating Agreement for ISS for reference. Also, Chris Rawlings (the accounting for ISS) is copied on this email and will provide any additional information that either of you may need.

(See Sept. 17, 2025 Letter filing Exhibits, Ex. D thereto).

On September 8, 2022, Alex Hartel emailed Mark Swanson attaching "the revised valuation that you and I discussed today." (See Sept. 17, 2025 Letter filing Exhibits, Ex. B thereto). Less than an hour later, Mr. Swanson emailed Plaintiff, enclosing Mr. Hartel's appraisal. (See *id.*). Plaintiff testified that, following this email, he met with Mr. Swanson and expressed his displeasure with that appraisal. (See Sept. 17, 2025 Letter filing Exhibits, Ex. C thereto).

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