RECEIVED

Sep 11 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit

The Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-000524

Timothy Jones as the Personal Representative for Dewitt Jones.....Appellant,

v.

Innovative Scientific Solutions, LLC, J. Ryan Flanagan, Jay A.
Flanagan, Jr., and Marion L. Snyder Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Adam C. Bach

Adam C. Bach (#74885)
TONNSEN BACH, LLC
1306 South Church Street
Greenville, SC 29605
Telephone: (864) 236-5013
Facsimile: (864) 312-4191

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

ARGUMENT

The Estate is unhappy with its own appraiser’s work. The entirety of this litigation flows from that dissatisfaction. But the Estate’s quarrel with its appraiser is one to take up with its appraiser. It has nothing to do with the only question that matters on appeal, which is whether the provisions of the Operating Agreement governing the valuation and purchase of Dewitt Jones’s shares were followed.

The language of the Operating Agreement controls the buyout of the Dewitt Jones’s membership units. S.C. Code § 33-44-103; Clary v. Borrell, 398 S.C. 287, 297, 727 S.E.2d 773, 778 (Ct. App. 2012) (“The operating agreement of a limited liability company is a binding contract that governs the relations among the members, managers, and the company.”); N. Am. Rescue Prods., Inc. v. Richardson, 411 S.C. 371, 378, 769 S.E.2d 237, 240 (2015) (“If a contract’s language is unambiguous, the plain language will determine the contract’s force and effect.”). As numerous courts and commentators have recognized, courts’ enforcement of limited liability company’s operating agreements provides parties’ freedom to structure companies as they see fit and promotes predictability and stability when business partners are dealing with one another. S.C Code 33-44-103 Off. Cmt. (“The operating agreement is the essential contract that governs the affairs of a limited liability company”); Barnes, et. al., South Carolina Limited Liability Companies, at p. 2 5th ed. (2020) (“Total flexibility is the hallmark of South Carolina’s LLC statutes.”); (Care One,

LLC v. Straus, No. A-1215-20, 2022 WL 17072371, at *12 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. Nov. 18, 2022) (citing Del. Code Ann. tit. 6, § 18-1101(b) (“It is the policy of this chapter to give the maximum effect to the principle of freedom of contract and to the enforceability of [LLC] agreements.”)).

Here, the parties agree on what occurred. The Estate appointed Mark Swanson to be its appraiser. (See Mark Swanson Dep. Tr. at 6:17-7:6); (See Timothy Jones Dep. Tr. at 52:3-8). The Company appointed Alex Hartel to be its appraiser. (See Ryan Flanagan Dep. Tr. at 46:10-24). Mark Swanson and Alex Hartel then conferred and agreed on a Fair Market Value. (See Timothy Jones Dep. Tr. at 152:25-153:4); (See Alex Hartel Dep. Tr. at 159:24-160:9); (See Ryan Flanagan Dep. Tr. at 63:16-19); (See Mark Swanson Dep. Tr. at 12:9-14:24). Under the Operating Agreement, that Fair Market Value is “conclusive and binding” on the parties. (See Op. Agr’t ¶ 11.4).

The Estate disputes the value agreed-upon by the Company and its appraiser on two grounds, neither of which has merit. First, the Estate contends that it revoked Mark Swanson’s authority or did not approve of his work and is therefore not bound by his valuation. That contention is immaterial under the Operating Agreement and has no support in the record. Second, the Estate contends that Alex Hartel and Mark Swanson did not determine Fair Market Value as the Operating Agreement defines it because they used updated projections. That argument also fails because it misconstrues the record and testimony and, even if true, it was up to the Estate’s appraiser, Mark Swanson to raise and object to this alleged issue before agreeing to the Fair Market Value of the Company.

I. Swanson Bound the Estate to the Agreed-Upon Fair Market Value

a. Whether Appellant agreed with the value contained in the September 9th Appraisal is Immaterial

Both Appellant and Respondents agree that the Operating Agreement governs the valuation of Dewitt Jones's membership units. (See Pl.'s Compl. ¶ 10). "The operating agreement of a limited liability company is a binding contract that governs the relations among the members, managers, and the company." Clary, 398 S.C. at 297, 727 S.E.2d at 778 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 33-44-103(a)). "Where an agreement is clear and capable of legal interpretation, the court's only function is to interpret the lawful meaning, discover the intention of the parties found within the agreement, and give effect to it." Park Regency, LLC v. R & D Dev. of the Carolinas, LLC, 402 S.C. 401, 412-413, 741 S.E.2d 528, 534 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting Heins v. Heins, 344 S.C. 146, 158, 543 S.E.2d 224, 230 (Ct. App. 2001)). "If a contract's language is unambiguous, the plain language will determine the contract's force and effect." N. Am. Rescue Prods., Inc. v. Richardson, 411 S.C. 371, 378, 769 S.E.2d 237, 240 (2015) (citations omitted).

The unambiguous language of the Operating Agreement caused no confusion for either Appellant or Respondents. Sections 11.2, 11.4, and 11.5 together set out the entire valuation and buyout process. Section 11.2 provides that "upon the death of a Member, the Company shall purchase, and the estate of the decedent...shall sell all of the decedent's Membership Units in the Company." (See Op. Agr't ¶ 11.2). Section 11.2 provides the purchase price of the Units shall be "computed in accordance with the provisions of SECTION 11.4 and paid in accordance with the provisions of SECTION 11.5." (Id.).

Section 11.4 begins the computation process by giving the Company and the Estate a chance to come to an agreement on the Fair Market Value of the Company. If they cannot, the

Operating Agreement provides a straightforward process for breaking the deadlock: the Company and the Estate each have thirty (30) days to appoint an appraiser. If one party or the other does not appoint an appraiser within the time required, then the “Fair Market Value of the Company [is] determined by the appraiser appointed by the other party...” (See Op. Agr’t ¶ 11.4). Assuming both the Company and the Estate appoint an appraiser, then those appraisers get thirty (30) days to reach an agreement on Fair Market Value. If they cannot, then a third appraiser is appointed and the Fair Market Value is the average of “the two (2) appraisals which are closest to each other.”

The point of Section 11.4 is to provide a process to break a deadlock where there is disagreement on the Fair Market Value of the Company. First, by having each side appoint an appraiser and then, if deadlock remains, by having a third appraiser appointed and taking the average of the two closest. The Operating Agreement makes it crystal clear that this process is binding. (See Op. Agr’t ¶ 11.4) (“The purchase price as determined herein shall be conclusive and binding on the parties, their personal representatives, heirs, successors, and assigns.”). Nothing in 11.4 permits a party to override this process by their disagreement with their own appraiser’s determination of Fair Market Value. If it did, the entire section would be meaningless because the jumping off point for the appraisal process is the parties’ deadlock in agreeing on Fair Market Value.

The record confirms that each step of the process was carried out in accordance with the Operating Agreement. The parties were unable to agree on the Fair Market Value of the Company, so each side appointed its own qualified appraiser (Mark Swanson for the Estate and Alex Hartel for the Company), and those two appraisers conferred and reached an agreement on the value. (See Timothy Jones Dep. Tr. at 152:25-153:4); (See Alex Hartel Dep. Tr. at 159:24-160:9); (See Ryan Flanagan Dep. Tr. at 63:16-19); (See Mark Swanson Dep. Tr. at 12:9-14:24). The final Fair Market

Valuation was the product of both appraisers' input. (See Alex Hartel Dep. Tr. at 43:23-44:22); (See Mark Swanson Dep. Tr. at 15:7-20). One suggestion from the Estate's appraiser was to obtain forecasts as close as possible to Dewitt Jones's death. (See Alex Hartel Dep. Tr. at 43:23-44:25). This was done and Swanson confirmed that this increased Alex Hartel's initial valuation. (See Mark Swanson Dep. Tr. at 15:7-20, 32:10-21).

Once the Fair Market Value was agreed-upon by the appraisers, the Operating Agreement dispenses with the Estate's objections. Section 11.5 of the Operating Agreement governs payment and confirms that the buyout is completed without regard to the Estate's acceptance. Section 11.5 provides, in pertinent part:

At the closing, the purchaser(s) shall execute and deliver to the seller a negotiable promissory note made payable to the order of the seller Upon execution and delivery of the note, the Membership Units shall be endorsed and conveyed to the purchaser(s). If, after receiving the executed note, the Offering Member or the personal representative of his estate does not tender the Membership Units so purchased, as provided herein, the Company shall cause the records of the Company to reflect that such Membership Units have been canceled or transferred, as the case may be. After the records of the Company have been so modified and after the tender of such payment has been made (whether or not accepted by the Offering Member, his estate, or his personal representative) neither the Offering Member, his estate nor his personal representative shall be considered to own such Membership Units and shall have no right as a Member to the extent of the Membership Units so canceled or transferred.

(See Op. Agr't ¶ 11.5) (emphasis added). The parenthetical "(whether or not accepted by the Offering Member, his estate, or his personal representative)" is a direct textual answer to the Estate's argument that Mark Swanson was required to get approval from the Estate prior to reaching an agreement. (Id.). The Operating Agreement expressly contemplates that the buyout is completed regardless of whether one party or the other finds some reason to dispute the price determined pursuant to the Operating Agreement. Here, the Company executed and delivered the

negotiable promissory note on October 1, 2022, thereby completing the buyout in precisely the manner Section 11.5 of the Operating Agreement prescribes. (See Order Grant. Defs.’ Mot. for Summ. J., at 8 n.1, Jan. 21, 2026); (See Ryan Flanagan Dep. Tr. Ex. 9).

Sections 11.2, 11.4, and 11.5 of the Operating Agreement leave no room for a separate party-approval requirement. Section 11.2 makes the sale mandatory; Section 11.4 fixes the price; and Section 11.5 contemplates the transfer “whether or not accepted” by the Estate. As the trial court correctly found, “[t]he Estate does not point to any language in the Operating Agreement requiring the Estate’s agreement to a valuation amount before it becomes binding on the Estate.” (See Order Grant. Defs.’ Mot. for Summ. J., at 5, Jan. 21, 2026). The Estate does no better in this appeal, arguing extensively about its disapproval of its own appraiser’s work without bothering to identify what difference its approval or disapproval makes under the Operating Agreement. Permitting a member to disown its own qualified appraiser’s valuation, or to dictate an acceptable number, “would defeat the purpose of the Operating Agreement” and return the parties to the very impasse the appraisal process was intended to resolve. (Id.).

Further, the Estate’s dissatisfaction with its own appraiser’s number does not entitle it to a third appraiser, nor does it entitle it to a do-over on its selection of its appraiser. By its plain terms, Section 11.4 of the Operating Agreement provides for a third appraiser only “[i]f the two (2) appraisers cannot agree on the Fair Market Value of [ISS].” (See Op. Agr’t ¶ 11.4) (emphasis added). Mr. Swanson and Mr. Hartel agreed on the Fair Market Value of the Company. (See Timothy Jones Dep. Tr. at 152:25-153:4); (See Alex Hartel Dep. Tr. at 159:24-160:9); (See Ryan Flanagan Dep. Tr. at 63:16-19); (See Mark Swanson Dep. Tr. at 12:9-14:24). The Estate wants the court to revise this process so that it continues until such time as the Estate has obtained an appraisal that is to its liking. But permitting successive appraisers until each side gets the valuation

it wants is just a road back to the deadlock the process was designed to break. Regardless, the trial court is not authorized to rewrite the Operating Agreement. Lewis v. Premium Inv. Corp., 351 S.C. 167, 171, 568 S.E.2d 361, 363 (2002) (“Basic contract law provides that when a contract is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the contract's force and effect. It is not the function of the court to rewrite contracts for parties.”) (internal citations omitted).

b. There is no evidence in the record supporting the Estate’s claim that it revoked Swanson’s authority before he agreed to the September 9th Appraisal

The Estate claims there exists a question of material fact as to “whether Plaintiff revoked any authority granted to Swanson to act on his behalf...” (See Appellant Br. at 17). According to Appellant there is “significant evidence” that Appellant revoked Swanson’s ability to bind him. (Id.). The Appellant cites four pieces of evidence, none of which support Appellant’s claim.

The first piece of “significant evidence” identified by Appellant is an August 3, 2022 email that was from the Estate to Swanson **two days before** the Estate retained Swanson as the Estate’s appraiser. (Compare Appellant Br. at 20-21, with Engagement Letter between Jones and Swanson dated August 5, 2022); (See Mark Swanson Dep. Tr. Ex. 3). The email cited by Appellant is an email from Timothy Jones to Swanson forwarding Hartel’s appraisal and asking Swanson to schedule a time to discuss. Whatever was discussed on that call, the Estate signed an engagement letter and identified Swanson as its chosen appraiser **two days later**. The Estate obviously could not “revoke” authority before Swanson was retained.

The second piece of “significant evidence” cited by the Estate is an email from Swanson to Timothy Jones after Swanson had completed his work with Hartel. (See Appellant Br. at 21). In this email, Swanson is explaining how he came to an agreement with Hartel on valuation. Nothing

in this email indicates that any authority has been revoked. And no one from the Company was copied on this email even if it did.

The third piece of “significant evidence” is an email written by Hartel to Swanson and others reporting that he and Swanson had been able to agree on a valuation of the Company. Again, nothing in this email indicates any revocation of authority or any disagreement with the valuation. In fact, it indicates exactly the opposite, that Hartel, Swanson, and everyone else copied understood that Swanson was the Estate’s appraiser and that a purchase price had been reached by the appraisers agreeing on the Fair Market Value of the Company. According to Appellant, Timothy Jones “promptly notified Mr. Swanson of his strenuous disagreement with Mr. Hartel’s appraisal.” Leaving aside there is no written evidence that this ever happened, as discussed above nothing in the Operating Agreement requires the Estate to agree with his appraiser’s valuation and no evidence of his alleged disagreement was ever communicated to the Company.

Fourth, the Estate cites to Timothy Jones’s own affidavit where the Estate swears he never authorized any of his representatives to agree to a valuation of the Fair Market Value of Dewitt Jones’s membership interest in the Company. (Appellant Br. at 24). This is incorrect. By appointing Swanson as its appraiser, that is exactly what the Estate did – it authorized Swanson to engage with the Company’s appraiser and to come to an agreement, if possible, on the Fair Market Value of the Company. (See Op. Agr’t ¶ 11.4).

None of these pieces of “significant evidence” support the Estate’s contention that it withdrew Swanson’s authority. Swanson understood that he was the Estate’s appraiser from start to finish. There is no writing, email, or communication terminating him at any point in time. And even assuming there was some evidence that Swanson was terminated as the Estate’s appraiser, there is no evidence such termination was ever communicated to the Company. See Carr v.

Moragne, 136 S.C. 218, 131 S.E. 424, 427 (1926) (recognizing that a revocation of an agent's authority does not become effective as to third persons dealing with the agent until they receive notice of the revocation, and that such persons may assume the authority continues as originally conferred until they are otherwise informed); See Town of Kingstree v. Chapman, 405 S.C. 282, 315, 747 S.E.2d 494, 511 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting R & G Const., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg'l Transp. Auth., 343 S.C. 424, 433, 540 S.E.2d 113, 118 (Ct. App. 2000) ("When a principal, by any such acts or conduct, has knowingly caused or permitted another to appear to be his agent, either generally or for a particular purpose, he will be estopped to deny such agency to the injury of third persons who have in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable prudence dealt with the agent on the faith of such appearances.")).

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